FIL D

IN THE SUPREME COURT FEB 15 1985 STATE OF FLORIDA CLERK. SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 66,426 By Chief Deputy Clerk
(4th DCA Case #82-2235 & 83-60)

SYLVESTER MCKINNIE,)

Petitioner,

vs.

PROGRESSIVE AMERICAN INS. CO.,

Respondent.)

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Marcia E. Levine, Esquire FAZIO, DAWSON & DISALVO 633 S. Andrews Ave., Suite 500 Post Office Box 14519 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305) 463-0585 or 940-3432

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHERE TWO TORTFEASORS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED TO A THIRD PERSON IN AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT, ALTHOUGH ONE TORTFEASOR IS UNINSURED, IF THE OTHER TORTFEASOR HAS LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH POLICY LIMITS EQUAL TO, OR GREATER THAN, THOSE CONTAINED IN UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE POSSESSED BY THE INJURED THIRD PERSON, CAN THE INJURED THIRD PERSON RECOVER UNDER HIS OWN UNINSURED MOTORIST POLICY?

PREFACE

This brief is submitted by SYLVESTER MCKINNEY, Plaintiff below, seeking review of an order of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, which certified the following question as one of great public interest:

WHERE TWO TORTFEASORS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED TO A THIRD PERSON IN AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT, ALTHOUGH ONE TORTFEASOR IS UNINSURED, IF THE OTHER TORTFEASOR HAS LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH POLICY LIMITS EQUAL TO, OR GREATER THAN, THOSE CONTAINED IN UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE POSSESSED BY THE INJURED THIRD PERSON, CAN THE INJURED THIRD PERSON RECOVER UNDER HIS OWN UNINSURED MOTORIST POLICY?

Reference to the Record On Appeal will be by "R.". Any emphasis appearing in this brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner filed a complaint to compel arbitration, alleging that he was injured as a result of the negligence of an uninsured motorist, that he was entitled to proceed with arbitration of his UM claim pursuant to the terms of the insurance contract, and that Respondent breached the insurance contract by refusing to arbitrate (R.21-22). Respondent answered by denying these allegations (R.23).Petitioner moved for summary judgment on his action to compel arbitration (R.45-49), which was granted (R.57,60). The trial court also entered judgment taxing attorneys fees and costs in favor of Petitioner (R.68). Respondent timely appealed from each of those judgments (R.62).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The essential facts of this case are included in the statement of the case. The only additional facts which are relevant is that at the summary judgment hearing, Respondent argued that Petitioner was not entitled to proceed with arbitration of his UM claim because there was an insured motorist involved in the accident who was a joint tortfeasor, and that the liability coverage of the insured motorist was equal to

Petioner's UM coverage, \$10,000.00 (R.2-18). Petitioner agreed, for the purpose of the summary judgment hearing, that the insured motorist was a "potential joint tortfeasor" (R.19).

ARGUMENT

WHERE TWO TORTFEASORS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED TO A THIRD PERSON IN AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT, ALTHOUGH ONE TORTFEASOR IS UNINSURED, IF THE OTHER TORTFEASOR HAS LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH POLICY LIMITS EQUAL TO, OR GREATER THAN, THOSE CONTAINED IN UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE POSSESSED BY THE THIRD PERSON, THE INJURED THIRD PERSON CAN RECOVER UNDER HIS OWN UNINSURED MOTORIST POLICY.

The District Court based its holding on the following language of Section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1981):

The coverage provided under this section shall be over and above, but shall not duplicate the benefits available to an injured insured . . . from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident.

Implicit in the District Court's holding is that (1) the emphasized language refers to any <u>automobile liability coverage</u> of one who is an independent joint tortfeasor and (2) the liability coverage of the joint tortfeasor must be <u>set off</u> against the insured's UM coverage. Petitioner would respectfully submit that each of these premises is incorrect.

Sec. 627.727(1) F.S. (1981) initially provides:

No automobile liability insurance covering liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state . . . unless coverage is provided therein . . . for the protection of persons

insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease, including death, resulting therefrom.

There can be no doubt that pursuant to this provision of the statute, a person who is injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist would be entitled to recover under his own UM policy, regardless of whether an insured tortfeasor was also involved in the accident.

The statute then goes on to list three categories of potential recovery which UM coverage shall not duplicate; the three categories are separated by semicolons. In order to properly analyze the 1981 statute, we must first look at the statute as it existed prior to the 1979 amendment:

The coverage provided under this section shall be excess over, but shall not duplicate the benefits available to an insured under, any workmen's compensation law, personal injury protection benefits, disability benefits law, or similar law; under any automobile liability, or automobile expense coverages; or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident.

The first category of enumerated benefits which UM coverage shall not duplicate includes benefits for medical expenses and lost wages which are separate and distinct from

automobile liability coverages, i.e., benefits available under workmen's compensation laws, personal injury protection laws, disability benefits laws and similar laws.

The second category of potential recovery which UM coverage shall not duplicate are coverages available in connection with automobile liability policies, i.e., automobile liability coverage and automobile medical payments coverage.

Clearly the third category of potential recovery which UM coverage shall not duplicate does <u>not</u> refer to the <u>automobile</u> <u>liability coverage</u> of anyone, since the second category of benefits encompasses "<u>any</u> automobile liability . . . coverages." Rather, the third category refers to recovery from the <u>individual</u> owner or operator of the uninsured vehicle or anyone <u>vicariously</u> <u>liable</u> for their negligence.

If the legislature had intended a fourth category, i.e., recovery from a joint tortfeasor who is totally independent from the uninsured owner and operator, it would have used another semicolon to create the fourth category:

or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle; or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident.

By writing the statute in this manner the legislature could have, if it so desired, created one category pertaining to recovery

from the individual owner or operator of the uninsured vehicle, and another category pertaining to recovery from some other person or organization totally separate and distinct from the owner or operator of the uninsured vehicle who is jointly liable, i.e., an independent joint tortfeasor.

However, that is not how the statute is written. The legislature is presumed to know the rules of grammar, and in construing the statute the court must consider the manner in which the statute is punctuated. Florida State Racing Commission v. Bourquardez, 42 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1949). A semicolon is used to separate independent clauses in a compound sentence. The legislature has, by the use of semicolons, created three independent categories of potential recovery which UM coverage shall not duplicate, and benefits available from an independent tortfeasor is not among them. To say that the third category refers to potential recovery from the liability insurance carrier of an independent joint tortfeasor requires a gross distortion of the English language.

As previously indicated, Sec. 627.727(1) F.S. was amended in 1979. The changes in the 1979 statute are as follows:

¹Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, (1973) p.1052.

The coverage provided under this section shall be excess over and above, but shall not duplicate the benefits available to an insured under, any workmen's worker's compensation law, personal injury protection benefits, disability law, or similar law; under any automobile liability, or automobile medical expense coverages; or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident. Only the underinsured motorist's automobile liability insurance shall be set off against underinsured motorist coverage. (changes in statute noted)

The 1979 amendment to the statute does not change the three independent categories of potential recovery which UM coverage shall not duplicate, except that automobile liability insurance was deleted. Additionally, the provision was added that no benefits can be set off against UM coverage except the liability coverage of an <u>underinsured</u> motorist. These changes in the statute apparently resulted from the numerous appellate decisions which not only set off the underinsured tortfeasor's liability coverage from UM coverage, but also improperly set off other available benefits enumerated in the statute, such as PIP benefits and worker's compensation benefits.²

²See, e.g., Fidelity & Casualty Company of New York v. Moreno, 350 So.2d 38 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977); Evans v. Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, 355 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Company v. Andrews, 369 So.2d 346 (Fla 4th DCA 1978) cert den'd. 381 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1980).

At any rate, the third category in the amended statute remains identical to the third category in the prior statute, and its construction must also remain the same. Nowhere does the prior statute or the 1979 statute refer to the liability insurance coverage of a joint tortfeasor as something which UM coverage shall not duplicate, or as something which must be set off against UM coverage. As previously indicated, the 1979 statute provides for no set offs against UM coverage except for the liability coverage of an underinsured tortfeasor. The liability coverage of a joint tortfeasor is simply not included in the statute. Consequently, since the UM statute provides for UM recovery by an insured who is "legally entitled to recover damages from owner or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury," without regard to whether an insured tortfeasor was also involved in the accident, the question certified by the District Court must be answered affirmative.

The result obtained by answering the certified question in the affirmative is consistent with the purpose of UM coverage, i.e., to allow the insured the <u>same recovery</u> which would have been available to him had the uninsured tortfeasor been insured to the same extent as the insured himself. <u>Dewberry v.</u>
Auto-Owners Insurance Company, 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978).

the insurance contract by refusing to arbitrate (R.21-22). Respondent answered by denying these allegations (R.23). Petitioner then moved for summary judgment, which was granted. (R.45-49,57).

The District Court, in reversing the summary judgment, ruled that on remand, "the trial court should proceed with a to the responsibility and rights of determination as respective parties". Thus, the District Court ruled that the trial court, not the arbitrators, should determine whether the insured motorist was a joint tortfeasor. This ruling was improper, not only because the instant case "declaratory action", where the trial court would be empowered to determine all issues in dispute between the parties, but also because, as a matter of public policy, insurance carriers should not be allowed to avoid arbitration, as required by the insurance contract, every time accident involving an uninsured an tortfeasor also involves an insured motorist.

UM arbitration clauses universally provide that the insured's right to recover damages and the amount of damages shall be determined by arbitration. If the insured's right

At the summary judgment hearing Petitioner assumed the existence of a "potential joint tortfeasor" for purposes of the hearing (R.19).

recover damages depends upon the existence, vel non, negligence on the part of an insured motorist, the arbitrators must determine that issue. That issue is no different than the question of whether there was, in fact, a "phantom vehicle" which caused the accident, or whether there was negligence on the part of an identified uninsured motorist which caused the accident. The insured cannot be forced into costly, time consuming circuit court litigation when both parties to the contract have bargained for arbitration. Certainly the insured cannot be required, as a condition precedent to arbitration, to bring a tort action against the insured motorist, merely because the insurance carrier claims that the insured motorist is a joint tortfeasor. Furthermore, it is doubtful, based upon traditional principles of estoppel by judgment, that a jury verdict in favor of the insured motorist in a tort action would be binding on the UM carrier in arbitration, since the UM carrier would not be a party to the tort action.

The question of whether the insured motorist was a joint tortfeasor is not a question of coverage. Respondent does not now dispute the fact that it issued a policy of insurance to Petitioner, providing uninsured motorist coverage in the amount of \$10,000.00, and that said policy of insurance was in full force and effect at all times material hereto. The question of

the insured motorist's liability is a question of fact bearing upon the insured's right to recover damages, and thus must be determined by arbitration. <u>Ebens v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 278 So.2d 674 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973).

CONCLUSION

In view of the foregoing, the question certified by the District Court should be answered in the affirmative, the decision of the District Court should be quashed, the judgments entered by the trial court should be reinstated, and Petitioner's motion for attorney's fees should be granted.