IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIER SUPREME COURT OF FLORIER SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT NAR 19 1985 CLEAR, SUPREME COURT BY CHER SYLVESTER MCKINNIE, Petitioner, VS.
	PROGRESSIVE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent.
•	BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS
	LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500 and KOPPLOW & FLYNN, P.A. 2750 S.W. 37th Avenue Second Floor Miami, Florida 33133 BY: JOE N. UNGER
	Counsel for Respondent
	LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER

_		
-	TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent would add to the procedural chronology set forth by Petitioner that in reversing the trial court the Fourth District Court of Appeal joined the First, Second, Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, making it a unanimous determination of every district court of appeal in the State of Florida. These decisions will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

While it is not directly relevant to the question certified in these proceedings, Petitioner asserts that his position in the trial court was that the insured motorist was a "potential joint tortfeasor". The record before the trial court establishes Petitioner's acknowledgement that the insured motorist was a joint tortfeasor, not a potential joint tortfeasor. In the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Sylvester McKinnie, the following statement is found: "The plaintiff was injured in an automobile accident which occurred on May 22, 1981, which was caused by the negligence of two joint tortfeasors, one of whom was uninsured." (R. 45) This same position was put forth in the Unilateral Pre-Trial Stipulation (R. 39-42) and the Motion to Sever filed by McKinnie (R. 31-32).

II.

QUESTION CERTIFIED

TWO TORTFEASORS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVER-WHERE ALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED TO A THIRD PERSON IN AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT, ALTHOUGH ONE TORTFEASOR IS UNINSURED, IF THE OTHER TORT-FEASOR HAS LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH POLICY LIMITS EQUAL TO, OR GREATER THAN, THOSE CON-UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE POS-TAINED ΙN BY THE INJURED THIRD PERSON, CAN SESSED THE INJURED THIRD PERSON RECOVER UNDER HIS OWN UNINSURED MOTORIST POLICY?

III.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

express terms of Section 627.727(1), Florida Under the (1981), uninsured motorist coverage pursuant to the Statutes statute shall not duplicate the benefits available to an injured insured from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident. These words need no interpretation. Under the clear wording of the statute, an injured person cannot recover under his own uninsured motorist policy where that person is involved in an accident caused by joint tortfeasors, one of whom is insured and one of whom is This has been the unanimous decision of every uninsured. district court of appeal of Florida which has considered the question. Not one of these courts found the pertinent statutory language unclear.

IV.

ARGUMENT

WHERE TWO TORTFEASORS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVER-ALLY LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED TO A THIRD PERSON IN AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT, ALTHOUGH ONE TORTFEASOR IS UNINSURED, IF THE OTHER TORT-FEASOR HAS LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH POLICY LIMITS EQUAL TO, OR GREATER THAN, THOSE CON-TAINED ΙN UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE POS-SESSED ΒY THE INJURED THIRD PERSON, THE THIRD PERSON CANNOT RECOVER UNDER HIS INJURED OWN UNINSURED MOTORIST POLICY.

Petitioner does not cite the unbroken line of decisions of every Florida district court of appeal which have determined the injured party cannot recover under his uninsured motorist policy where involved in an accident with joint tortfeasors, one of whom is uninsured and the other of whom is insured with liability insurance policy limits equal to or greater than those contained in the uninsured motorist coverage. The first case specifically directed to this issue is Travelers Insurance Company v. Wilson, 371 So.2d 145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. den., 385 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1980). The uninsured motorist insurer brought a declaratory action seeking determination that it was not liable for uninsured motorist coverage in a situation where joint tortfeasors were allegedly involved in an accident, one insured and the other uninsured. The liability insurance of the insured tortfeasor was equal to the uninsured motorist coverage carried by the injured party. On the specific issue which is presently before of this Court, the District of Court of Appeal stated:

> "We think that it is clear that the purpose of the legislature was to provide for broad

coverage. . .but also carefully to exclude any duplication of benefits. Therefore, if the defendant recovers from [the insured tortfeasor]. . .he cannot recover under the uninsured motorist provision of his policy." <u>Travelers Insurance Company v. Wilson</u>, supra at page 148.

In <u>Timon</u>, the insurance carrier appealed from a summary judgment determining that the carrier would be liable, depending on the extent of injuries, for up to \$10,000 of uninsured motorist benefits provided by its policy even if its insured should collect the liability limits of \$10,000 covering an automobile operated by a tortfeasor involved in a collision with the insured's vehicle. The summary judgment was based upon a theory that a third vehicle driven by a hit-and-run tortfeasor contributed to the insured's loss and that since the phantom tortfeasor's vehicle was uninsured the injured party's uninsured motorist benefits should compensate because of the unavailability of an insured recovery from the phantom tortfeasor.

The Behrmann decision was cited in a citation per curiam affirmance. Espinosa v. Lumbermens Mutual Casualty Company, 390 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). 2

The <u>Timon</u> decision was cited in a citation per curiam affirmance. <u>Williams v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company</u>, 412 So.2d 44 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

On appeal, it was determined that the availability of liability coverage by a tortfeasor in the same amount as the uninsured motorist coverage precluded access to the uninsured motorist benefits of the injured party's policy. The court reasons that the availability of one joint tortfeasor's liability insurance benefits in the same amount as the available uninsured motorist benefits satisfies the purpose for which uninsured motorist benefits were provided by law. This determination is notwithstanding uninsured motorist benefits would be available to claimants were the phantom the only tortfeasor and notwithstanding the insured's recovery would be greater were the phantom not a phantom but rather an insured tortfeasor brought jointly to court with the insured tortfeasor.

The determinations in <u>Wilson</u>, <u>Behrmann</u> and <u>Timon</u> were followed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Scharfschwerdt</u> <u>v. Allstate Insurance Company</u>, 430 So.2d 578 (Fla. 5th DCA $\frac{3}{1983}$).

The same determination was reached in a slightly different factual context by the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Craft</u> <u>v. Government Employees Insurance Company</u>, 432 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), <u>pet. rev. den.</u>, 440 So.2d 351 (Fla. 1983). By final summary judgment, the trial court determined that GEICO had no liability to its insured under an uninsured motorist provision of his automobile insurance policy for personal injuries sus-

Cited in citation per curiam affirmance, Rook v. Allstate Insurance Company, 436 So.2d 196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

tained when a train on which the insured was riding collided with an uninsured truck. The injured party brought an action against his employer, Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company. This suit settled for \$150,000. GEICO took the position that it was was not liable to its insured even though it provided \$45,000 uninsured motorist coverage under a policy provision which provided any amount payable shall be reduced by all sums paid on that account of the bodily injury received by the owner or operator of the uninsured automobile and any other person jointly or severally liable with the owner or operator for bodily injury.

GEICO's insured argued that the policy provision was contrary to the public policy of Florida expressed in Section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes (1975), the predecessor to the present statute, which provided in pertinent part:

> "The coverage provided under this section shall be excess over but shall not duplicate the benefits available to an insured under any workmen's compensation law, disability benefits law, or any similar law; under any automobile liability or automobile medical expense coverages; or from the owner or operator of the uninsured motor vehicle or any other person or organization jointly or severally liable together with such owner or operator for the accident." (Emphasis supplied.)

Citing <u>Wilson</u>, <u>Behrmann</u> and <u>Timon</u> and quoting from <u>Timon</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal announced the rule in Florida to be that when an insured is injured in an accident involving two joint tortfeasors, one of whom has liability insurance coverage equal to or greater than the insured's UM coverage and the other of whom is uninsured or underinsured, the insured is not entitled to collect benefits under his UM coverage. Quoted from the <u>Timon</u> decision is the statement that the availability of one joint tortfeasor's liability insurance benefits in the same amount as claimant's uninsured motorist benefits satisfies the purpose for which uninsured motorist benefits were provided by law and contract. The court went on to determine that notwithstanding the insured's claim against the solvent tortfeasor was not paid by an automobile liability insurer, the court saw no reason why this factual distinction should change the result in the case before it.

This unbroken line of cases now include the decisions of the "sister courts" of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the instant case which was followed by that court in a decision issued on the same day. <u>State Farm Mutual Insurance Company</u> v. Bayles, 459 So.2d 387 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

Most recently, in an opinion issued December 18, 1984, the Third District Court of Appeal followed all of the decisions cited above as well as the recently issued <u>McKinhie</u> decision in <u>Bradley v. Government Employees Insurance Company</u>, 460 So.2d 981 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

Can it be that every district court of appeal in the State of Florida has incorrectly precluded coverage under the circumstances of the question certified to this Court? The answer is simply that the intent of the statute set forth in the express provisions of Section 627.727(1) unquestionably precludes coverage under the facts which are here involved. The applicable statute provides that uninsured motorist coverage shall not duplicate benefits available from any person jointly or severally

liable with the owner of the uninsured vehicle. This expression is clear, it needs no interpretation. Duplicate means to 4 repeat.

Here, the injured party had uninsured motorist coverage in the same amount as the liability coverage of one joint tortfeasor. In order to be payable under the statute, uninsured motorist coverage would have to be over and above but not a duplication or repeat of the benefits available to the insured from either of the joint tortfeasors.

As pointed out in the <u>Timon</u> case, the availability of liability benefits in the same amount as uninsured motorist benefits satisfies the purpose for which uninsured motorist benefits were provided by law, that is to protect persons who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles.

Mr. McKinnie was "protected" from the owner or operator of an uninsured motor vehicle because there was available to him coverage from the liability insurance of a joint tortfeasor. This, as pointed out in the <u>Timon</u> case, satisfies the purpose of the uninsured motorist statute.

Whether or not Mr. McKinnie would have been "better off" if he had been involved in an accident where joint tortfeasors were both insured is no more relevant to the public policy underlying the statute than how much better off Mr. McKinnie would have been had he been involved in an accident with ten tortfeasors who had

Black's Law Dictionary (5th Edition 1979).

1.

unlimited amounts of liability insurance available, or one tort-5 feasor with a \$10,000,000 liability policy.

It is not, as Petitioner contends, a punishment to the insured to have only \$10,000 in liability coverage available to him whereas had the uninsured tortfeasor obtained liability coverage equal to Petitioner's uninsured motorist coverage the Petitioner would have had \$20,000 coverage available to him. This interpretation cannot be encompassed within either the wording of the statute as it now exists or the wording of the predecessor statute.

It is not sufficient to argue that the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions allow uninsured motorist recovery under the facts contained in the certified question without a detailed examination of the particular statutes and policies under which these cases were decided. Every case cited by Petitioner as the "majority rule" were decided under the particular state law or particular policy provisions applicable. For example, see, <u>Tholen v. Carney</u>, 555 F.2d 479 (5th Cir. 1977). Contrary to Petitioner's argument, there is substantial reason set forth

The contrary view is expressed by the dissenting judges in Behrmann v. Industrial Fire and Casualty Insurance Company, supra and the instant case. If this beneficent view were intended by the statute, it would not have specifically prohibited the duplication by the uninsured motorist coverage of the liability coverof the joint tortfeasor. The "duplication" prohibition of aαe the statute also limits the generally stated purpose of UM coverage set forth in Dewberry v. Auto-Owners Insurance Company, 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978), that is to allow the insured the same recovery which would have been available to him had the uninsured tortfeasor been insured to the same extent as the insured himself. Dewberry is clearly limited to situations which involve one but not two joint tortfeasors.

expressly in Florida's statute and the cases under the Florida statute which requires that the certified question be answered in the negative.

Petitioner engages in a tortured construction of the present version of Section 627.727(1) as amended in 1979 to come to the conclusion that the "liability coverage of a joint tort-feasor is simply not included in the statute." A simple reading of the statute indicates that what shall not be "duplicated" are "the benefits available to an insured from any person jointly or severally liable together with the uninsured owner or operator for the accident. To argue that the present statute provides for uninsured motorist coverage without regard to whether an insured tortfeasor was also involved in the accident simply ignores the $\frac{6}{1000}$

Both the plain language of the statute and the public policy underlying the uninsured motorist statute completely support the determination of the District Court of Appeal in the instant case as well as the determinations of every other district court of appeal on the same subject. If the legislature wants to change the statute to provide coverage under the extant facts, it is at liberty to do so. "However, that is a legislative matter and the legislature has provided otherwise." <u>Sheedy</u> v. Vista Properties, Inc., 410 So.2d 561, 563 (Fla. 4th DCA

⁶ The provision in the present statute which prohibits setoffs against uninsured motorist coverage except for the liability coverage of an underinsured tortfeasor does not affect the result reached by the District Court of Appeal in the instant case.

1982). The certified question should be answered in the negative.

Petitioner also argues that the arbitrators, as requested by the insured, and not the trial judge should determine whether the insured motorist was a joint tortfeasor. This argument is deficient for either of two reasons. In several pleadings in the trial court, Mr. McKinnie announced that he was injured by joint tortfeasors, one of whom was insured and one of whom was uninsured. (R. 31-32, 39-42, 45) The position cannot be abandoned during the appellate phase of the litigation.

If, as Petitioner argues, the arbitrators were to determine that the insured motorist did not contribute to the accident and was not a joint tortfeasor this would be a determination of coverage. Arbitrators do not determine questions of coverage. <u>Cruger v. Allstate Insurance Co.</u>, 162 So.2d 690 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), see also <u>Kenilworth Insurance Co. v. Drake</u>, 396 So.2d 836 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). As in the <u>Cruger</u> case, the true question being litigated was whether an insured motorist contributed to the accident and, accordingly, whether the subject accident comes within the terms of the uninsured motorist provisions of the policy. This is a question of coverage, not liability, and one for a court and not for arbitration. <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty</u> <u>Co. v. Glass</u>, 421 So.2d 759 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

The decision cited by Petitioner is inapposite. In <u>Ebens</u> <u>v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.</u>, 278 So.2d 674 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973) the court held only that issues of liability of an admittedly uninsured motorist were for the arbitrators. Here, the question of whether the driver of the insured vehicle was a joint tortfeasor will determine coverage--an issue for the trial court.

v.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons and under the authorities set forth above, it is respectfully requested that the question certified to this Court be answered in the negative.

VI.